
MAYOR                      INTERIM  CITY MANAGER 

Brian West Michelle Owens 

 
CITY COUNCIL CLERK OF COUNCIL  
Monty Parks Mayor pro tem Jan LeViner 

Bill Garbett  

Spec Hosti 
Tony Ploughe CITY ATTORNEY 

Nick Sears Edward M. Hughes 

Kathryn Williams Tracy O’Connell 

CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

 

A G E N D A  
REGULAR MEETING OF TYBEE ISLAND CITY COUNCIL 

April 25, 2024 at 6:30 PM 
Please silence all cell phones during Council Meetings 

 
Opening Ceremonies 
     Call to Order 
     Invocation:  Rev. Sue Jackson, Trinity Methodist Church 
     Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Announcements 
 
Recognitions and Proclamations 

1. Honorable Mayor Ernest Arthur, Cape Coast Metropolitan Assembly, Ghana 
 
Consideration of Items for Consent Agenda  
 
Consideration of the approval of the minutes of the meetings of the Tybee island City Council 

2. Minutes, City Council Meeting, April 11, 2024 
3. Attachments to Minutes 

 
City Manager Discussion and Action Items 
 
Citizens to be Heard:  Please limit comments to 4 minutes. 

4. Shawnessy Cargile, The Front Porch.   
 
If there is anyone wishing to speak to anything on the agenda other than the Public Hearings, 
please approached the podium.  Please limit your comments to 4 minutes. 
 
Consideration of Approval of Consent Agenda 
 
Consideration of Bids, Contracts, Agreements and Expenditures 

5. Budget Amendments 
 Amendment #1:  To use unassigned fund balance to cover the unexpected and/or 

additional costs related to information technology and legal.   

 Amendment #2:  To use unassigned fund balance to cover three quarters of costs 
related to the City's dune monitoring project with Skidaway Institute 

- Page 1 -



 

 
P.O. Box 2749 – 403 Butler Avenue, Tybee Island, Georgia 31328-2749 

(866) 786-4573 – FAX (866) 786-5737 
www.cityoftybee.org 

 Amendment #3:  To use fund balance reserved for beach related projets to fund the 
City's planning work for the beach nourishment project with US Corps of Engineers 

 
Consideration of Ordinances, Resolutions 

6. Second Reading, 2024-02, GMEBS-R, City of Tybee Island Defined Benefit Retirement 
Plan 

7. Resolution:  Tybee Island Resilience Resolution 
 
Council, Officials and City Attorney Considerations and Comments 

8. Tracy O'Connell:  2024-07:  Potential Amendment of Ordinance on the Temporary Use 
of Recreational Vehicles – For Discussion and Direction to Staff/Counsel 

9. Spec Hosti: Workforce Housing 
10. Tony Ploughe:  North Beach Erosion due to Ship Traffic 

 
Minutes of Boards and Committees 

11. Minutes, Marine Science Center Board Meeting, March 25, 2024 
 
Executive Session 
     Discuss litigation, personnel and real estate  
 
Possible vote on litigation, personnel and real estate discussed in executive session 
Adjournment 
Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or 
participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are 
required to contact Jan LeViner at 912.472.5080 promptly to allow the City to make reasonable accommodations 
for those persons.   
 
*PLEASE NOTE:  Citizens wishing to speak on items listed on the agenda, other than public hearings, 

should do so during the citizens to be heard section.  Citizens wishing to place items on the council 

meeting agenda must submit an agenda request form to the City Clerk’s office by Thursday at 5:00PM 
prior to the next scheduled meeting.  Agenda request forms are available outside the Clerk’s office at City 

Hall and at www.cityoftybee.org. 
 

 

 

THE VISION OF THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
  

“is to make Tybee Island the premier beach community in which to live, work, and play.” 
 

 

 

THE MISSION OF THE CITY OF TYBEE ISLAND 

 
  

“is to provide a safe, secure and sustainable environment by delivering superior services through responsible 
planning, preservation of our natural and historic resources, and partnership with our community to ensure 
economic opportunity, a vibrant quality of life, and a thriving future.” 

 

 

- Page 2 -

http://www.cityoftybee.org/


File Attachments for Item:

2. Minutes, City Council Meeting, April 11, 2024

- Page 3 -



 

City Council Minutes, April 11, 2024 
 
Mayor West called the meeting to order at 6:30PM, April 11, 2024.  Those in attendance 
were, Nick Sears, Monty Parks, Kathryn Williams, Tony Ploughe and Bill Garbett.    Also 
attending were Michelle Owens, Interim City Manager; Bubba Hughes, City Attorney; 
Tracy O’Connell, City Attorney; and Jan LeViner, Clerk of Council.  Spec Hosti was 
excused. 
 
Opening Ceremonies 
     Call to Order 
     Invocation:  Jan LeViner, Clerk 
     Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Mayor West gave an update on the upcoming unpermitted event, April 19 – 21, 2024.  
He continued the City of Tybee has been planning for additional measures necessary for 
Spring Break travel and unpermitted events on the Island, which will keep our visitors 
and residents safe.  Mayor West stated the City is a small island and is necessary to bring 
in extra resources related to public safety and sanitation to deal with large crowds during 
busy peak weekends.  The City of Tybee has been in coordinated meetings for several 
months with neighboring jurisdictions, administrations, including Chatham County and 
the City of Savannah to prepare for this event.   In response to the events of last year, the 
City is committed to the safety of locals and visitors and has cautiously prepared for 
anticipated unpermitted events this year.   Mayor West continued, the City of Tybee would 
continue to do what is necessary to handle these unfortunate events.  We have received 
great support from the community and hope continue to receive the same support from 
our neighboring municipalities.   
 
Consideration of Items for Consent Agenda  

 Minutes:  City Council Meeting, March 28, 2024, as amended 

 Ante Litem:  Mariah Hay and Joseph Schmidt, Nuisance/Zunzibar, TO DENY 
 
City Manager Discussion and Action Items 

 Ms. Owens stated Georgia Southern is interested in working with the City on a 
Resident Sentiment Survey.  She stated she spoke with Ben McKay and he will 
send a proposal.   

 Ms. Owens stated at a previous workshop a group named Live Oak Fiber that is 
interesting in providing internet to the City.  They are working in the region and 
would like to extend their services to Tybee Island.  She continued, they have been 
in talks with them and are looking for a suitable location to install a cabinet.   

 
Citizens to be Heard:  Please limit comments to 4 minutes.  
Pat Leiby approached Mayor and Council to give an update on the Dedication 
Ceremony, Tybee Island Black History Trail.  Ms. Leiby stated the dedication 
ceremony will be on May 7, 2024 at 10:00AM and invited everyone to attend.  Mayor 
West thanked Ms. Leiby for her work with the Tybee Black History Trail Committee. 

- Page 4 -Item #2.



 

 

Julia Pearce approached Mayor and Council to discuss the impending visit of the Cape 
Coast Mayor and Delegation Visit.  Ms. Pearce stated the Mayor of Cape Coast will 
visit Tybee Island this month.  She thanked the community and businesses for supporting 
the Mayor and those traveling with him as they have limited funds.  Mayor West thanked 
Ms. Pearce for everything she is doing.  
 
If there is anyone wishing to speak to anything on the agenda other than the 
Public Hearings, please approached the podium.   
Chris Smith, Zunizbar, approached Mayor and Council.  Mr. Smith stated he will continue 
to be a good neighbor and work with Ms. Hay and Mr. Schmidt.  Mayor West thanked Mr. 
Smith.   
Deborah Young approached Mayor and Council.  Ms. Young spoke positively regarding 
Zunizbar and said they are a good neighbor.  Mayor West thanked Ms. Young. 
Cindy Stevens approached Mayor and Council.  Ms. Stevens stated she and her husband 
want to keep the business, Zunizbar, open and do not understand the problem.  Mayor 
West thanked Ms. Stevens. 
Kelly Jones approached Mayor and Council.  Ms.  Jones stated she lives directly behind 
Zunizbar and does not want to take away the live music.  Mayor West thanked Ms. Jones.   
Joe Schmidt approached Mayor and Council.   Mr. Schmidt stated there are still issues 
with Zunizbar regarding noise (attached).  Mayor West thanked Mr. Schmidt. 
Julia Pearce approached Mayor and Council.  Ms. Pearce stated she is in favor of the 
Mural on Tybrisa as Tybee is the playground of Georgia and history is important.  Mayor 
West thanked Ms. Pearce. 
Jenny Rutherford approached Mayor and Council.  Ms. Rutherford spoke in favor of 
Zunizbar.  Mayor West thanked Ms. Rutherford. 
 
Monty Parks made a motion to approve the minutes as presented with the corrections 
and to deny the Ante Litem.  Nick Sears seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 5-
0. 
 
Public Hearings 
Final Major Subdivision Plat Approval:    Christopher Koncul, 708 Butler 
Avenue.  Ms. Owens stated this is the final approval of the subdivision plat.  This is 
zoned residential, single-family homes.  The Planning Commission approved 5-1 and Staff 
recommends approval.  The City Engineer inspected the property and recommends 
approval.  Mr. Parks asked if the Tree Plan was followed.  Ms. Owens confirmed it has 
been and everything is in place.   Monty Parks made a motion to approve.  Nick Sears 
seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 5-0. 
 
Site Plan Approval, Sec 5-080, Marine Science Center, 37 Meddin, Addition of 
solar panels to the roof of the building.  Ms. Owens stated the applicant is asking 
for solar panels on the Marine Science Center and the property is zoned R-1 and in the 
North-end Cultural District.    Staff recommended not approving until they receive a letter 
from an engineer/architect that  will confirm the installation of solar panels will not cause 

- Page 5 -Item #2.



 

 

any damage to the structure or roof materials.  There are many questions from not only 
Staff but from Mayor and Council.  Ms. Owens stated the petitioner is present if there are 
questions.  Ms. Williams confirm the Marine Science Center pays for all the insurance on 
the building. Mr. Hughes stated the Marine Science Center pays rent to the City, 
approximately $900.00 per month.  Mr. Parks stated he has questions, which he provided 
to Mayor and Council via email.  He would like, in writing, confirmation from the 
manufacturer of the membrane that they will continue to guarantee the roof. His second 
concern is if the panels are attached to the building, does this become the City’s material?  
He does not feel this is time sensitive and would like to put on the agenda for April 25, 
2024 when questions can be addressed.  Mr. Ploughe stated he did see the Engineering 
Report speaking to the attachment of the solar panels to the roof and seems as it is more 
focused on that.  He is wanting to understand they also looked at the roof regarding the 
extra wind exposure, not cause any problems as well.  This would include the roof system.  
Ms. Williams asked legal staff, is it their opinion the solar panels can be removed and 
therefore are going to be property of the Marine Science Center or considered permanent 
and therefore property of the City.  Mr. Hughes shared his concerns with the procurement 
process and costs.  Mr. Sears stated the question regarding the warranty is reasonable.  
Mark Reed approached Mayor and Council.  Mr. Reed thanked Mayor, Council for all the 
questions sent to him and he tried to respond as quickly as he could.  He prepared a 
power point presentation and shared with Mayor and Council.  The first slide showed the 
electric bill for last year, $19,200 and if divided by the charge for visitors, it takes 1600 
visitors for them to be able to pay the bill.    He continued with the presentation showing 
the benefits of the solar panels to include installation.  Mr. Reed stated Mayor and Council 
was provided a letter from the engineer that worked on the building.  She has confirmed 
the roof would be able to hold the structure and withstand the wind as stated in the local 
Code.  Mr. Reed then explained the installation of the panels.  He stated the cost estimate 
is $125,000 and the Marine Science Center will fully fund this and grants may be available.  
Mr. Parks stated the City of Tybee receives a different rate from residential and asked if 
the Center is benefiting from that rate.  Mr. Reed responded in the negative. Mr. Parks 
would like Mr. Hughes to reach out to GAF to confirm installation will not compromise the 
roof.  Chantal Audran approached Mayor and Council.  Ms. Audran stated she would 
like to speak on her support of the new solar project proposal.  She continued the Staff 
likes to practice what they preach as educators.  Ms. Audran thanked Mayor and Council 
for their “new home”.  She stated, as this is a trusted vendor, she did not get three bids 
for the project and will work on the proper procedure moving forward. Ms. Audran again 
thanked Mayor and Council and the City for their continued support. Monty Parks made 
a motion for this item to come back to the April 25, 2024 Council Meeting to revisit, to 
have the legal team address questions from Mayor and Council and check on lower pricing 
from Georgia Power.  Bill Garbett seconded.  Discussion:  Kathryn Williams shared 
her concerns regarding funding.  She stated, as the City is not a non-profit organization, 
they would not be qualified for a grant.  The grants could be awarded to a non-profit but 
not to a municipality.  This needs to be part of the consideration.  Mr. Parks asked Mayor 
and Council to send all questions to the legal team.  Voting in favor were Nick Sears, 

- Page 6 -Item #2.



 

 

Monty Parks, Tony Ploughe and Bill Garbett.  Voting against was Kathryn Williams.  Motion 
to approve, 4-1.   
 
Consideration of Bids, Contracts, Agreements and Expenditures 
MOU Mural on Tybrisa Street.  Ms. Williams clarified that the design of the mural 
will come back to Mayor and Council for final approval.  Ms. Owens confirmed and stated 
the agenda item is just for the approval of permission to use that wall.  She continued, 
the design has not been approved and will go to the Planning Commission and then to 
Mayor and Council.  Mr. Ploughe asked if there might be a time when the public could 
engage with Main Street so the community be more involved with their suggestions.  Ms. 
Owens confirmed.  Bill Garbett made a motion to approve.  Kathryn Williams 
seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 5-0. 
 
Consideration of Ordinances, Resolutions 
First Reading, 2024-02, GMEBS-R, City of Tybee Island Defined Benefit 
Retirement Plan. Ms. O’Connell stated GMEBS-R had to put the Plan before the IRS 
for it to be vetted again to ensure it is compliance.  These suggestions came back from 
the IRS to GMEBS-R who incorporated them into the City’s Plan.  This change makes the 
Plan consistent with the IRS guidelines and rules.  The City needs to adopt as an 
ordinance.  Mr. Sears asked Ms. O’Connell if the City would have to make changes to the 
forms as completed by GMA and approve what is before them tonight.  Ms. O’Connell 
stated the forms before them tonight are consistent with what the City now uses. Ms. 
O’Connell further explained Congress passed a Secure Act, which waives the age which 
participants would start drawing retirement benefits.  This is designed in her opinion, to 
give people more opportunity to work and to increase their potential retirement benefit.  
Ms. O’Connell stated the proposed ordinance is to be compliant with the Secure Act.    
Monty Parks made a motion to approve.  Bill Garbett seconded.  Vote was unanimous 
to approve, 5-0. 
 
Council, Officials and City Attorney Considerations and Comments 
Monty Parks stated the company that was assisting the City with Glass Recycling is 
no longer doing this.  He is looking for other options, as this is very important to not only 
Tybee Island but to Savannah and Thunderbolt.   
 
Kathryn Williams stated she would like to officially request Mayor and Council  receive 
Monthly Financial Reports.  She spoke with the Finance Director and she stated this 
is something she has done in the past.  Ms. Williams continued, as she has shared, she 
has concerns that Mayor and Council are not hearing from the Department Heads.  She 
would like a discussion regarding receiving the Financial Reports and hear from the 
department heads.  Ms. Williams asked Ms. Owens to provide Staff Reports and Financial 
Reports on a regular basis.  Ms. Owens confirmed that this could be part of a workshop 
once the budget is finalized. 
 

- Page 7 -Item #2.



 

 
 

Monty Parks made a motion to approve the consent agenda.  Nick Sears seconded.  
Vote was unanimous to approve, 5-0. 
 

Monty Parks made a motion to adjourn to executive session to discuss Real Estate, 
Litigation and Personnel.  Bill Garbett seconded.  Vote was unanimous to approve, 5-0. 
 
Spec Hosti made a motion to adjourn to regular session.  Monty Parks seconded.  Vote 
was unanimous to approve, 5-0. 
 
Spec Hosti made a motion to adjourn.  Bill Garbett seconded.  Vote was unanimous 
to approve, 6-0. 
 
Meeting was adjourned at 9:45PM. 
 
 
 
_________________________ 
Janet LeViner, MMC 
Clerk of Council 

- Page 8 -Item #2.



File Attachments for Item:

3. Attachments to Minutes

- Page 9 -



- Page 10 -Item #3.



- Page 11 -Item #3.



- Page 12 -Item #3.



- Page 13 -Item #3.



- Page 14 -Item #3.



File Attachments for Item:

5. Budget Amendments

- Page 15 -



- Page 16 -Item #5.



File Attachments for Item:

6. Amendment #1:  To use unassigned fund balance to cover the unexpected and/or additional 

costs related to information technology and legal.  

- Page 17 -



- Page 18 -Item #6.



File Attachments for Item:

7. Amendment #2:  To use unassigned fund balance to cover three quarters of costs related to 

the City's dune monitoring project with Skidaway Institute

- Page 19 -



- Page 20 -Item #7.



File Attachments for Item:

8. Amendment #3:  To use fund balance reserved for beach related projets to fund the City's 

planning work for the beach nourishment project with US Corps of Engineers

- Page 21 -



- Page 22 -Item #8.



File Attachments for Item:

9. Second Reading, 2024-02, GMEBS-R, City of Tybee Island Defined Benefit Retirement Plan

- Page 23 -



- Page 24 -Item #9.



- Page 25 -Item #9.



- Page 26 -Item #9.



- Page 27 -Item #9.



- Page 28 -Item #9.



- Page 29 -Item #9.



- Page 30 -Item #9.



- Page 31 -Item #9.



- Page 32 -Item #9.



- Page 33 -Item #9.



- Page 34 -Item #9.



- Page 35 -Item #9.



- Page 36 -Item #9.



- Page 37 -Item #9.



- Page 38 -Item #9.



- Page 39 -Item #9.



- Page 40 -Item #9.



- Page 41 -Item #9.



- Page 42 -Item #9.



- Page 43 -Item #9.



- Page 44 -Item #9.



- Page 45 -Item #9.



- Page 46 -Item #9.



- Page 47 -Item #9.



- Page 48 -Item #9.



- Page 49 -Item #9.



- Page 50 -Item #9.



- Page 51 -Item #9.



- Page 52 -Item #9.



- Page 53 -Item #9.



- Page 54 -Item #9.



- Page 55 -Item #9.



- Page 56 -Item #9.



- Page 57 -Item #9.



- Page 58 -Item #9.



- Page 59 -Item #9.



- Page 60 -Item #9.



- Page 61 -Item #9.



- Page 62 -Item #9.



- Page 63 -Item #9.



- Page 64 -Item #9.



- Page 65 -Item #9.



- Page 66 -Item #9.



- Page 67 -Item #9.



File Attachments for Item:

10. Resolution:  Tybee Island Resilience Resolution

- Page 68 -



 

 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF  
TYBEE ISLAND, GEORGIA TO IMPROVE COMMUNITY RESILIENCE ON TYBEE 

ISLAND 
 

 
WHEREAS, community resilience refers to the sustained ability of a community and its 

environment to withstand and recover from adverse situations or events while improving the 
community’s physical, social, and economic health and while protecting human life and property, 
and  

 
WHEREAS, the City has made significant improvements in its resiliency, having adopted 

the first Sea Level Rise Adaptation Study in the State in 2016, worked closely with FEMA to lift 
houses out of the floodplain which continues today, worked closely with the US Army Corps of 
Engineers to include dune strengthening during the 2019 beach nourishment, undertaken an 
assessment of the flood risk and mitigation alternatives of the Back River, developed a Master 
Stormwater Improvement Program, developed a Natural Infrastructure Master Plan, developed the 
first Comprehensive Community Resiliency Plan in the State, and 

 
WHEREAS, the City, in doing this work, has engaged a wide variety of Local, County, 

State, and Federal partners to assess, build, and monitor its resiliency features, and 
 
WHEREAS, the City has determined that the public health, safety, and welfare of its 

residents will be significantly improved by placing a continued emphasis on increasing community 
resilience to natural hazards, environmental changes, issues of social vulnerability, and access to 
resources, and 
 

WHEREAS, the City has acknowledged that there is scientific evidence that our climate is 
changing and, to meet this challenge, the City must enhance its consideration of climate change in 
land use decisions, infrastructure investments, housing investments, and City planning, and 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Tybee Island recognizes it must continue to build upon its prior 
work to address the changing climate and incorporate community resilience in its decision-making 
through the collaboration of the City’s staff, local stakeholders, and the public. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TYBEE ISLAND CITY COUNCIL 
that the City will endeavor to promote equitable community resilience and reduce vulnerabilities to 
environmental threats by incorporating resilience considerations into its planning, development, and 
operational practices. 
 

This ______ day of April, 2024. 

 

________________________________ 

Brian West, Mayor 
City of Tybee Island, Georgia 

Attested to: 

__________________________ 

Jan LeViner, Clerk of the Council  

- Page 69 -Item #10.



 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF  

CHATHAM COUNTY, GEORGIA TO IMPROVE RESILIENCE AND FOCUS ON 

CLIMATE CHANGE WITHIN CHATHAM COUNTY 

 

 

WHEREAS, Chatham County has committed to improving resilience through the formal 

establishment of the area’s first Resilience Program in 2022, and 

 

WHEREAS, community resilience refers to the sustained ability of a community and its 

environment to withstand and recover from adverse situations or events while improving the 

community’s physical, social, and economic health and while protecting human life and property, 

and  

 

WHEREAS, Chatham County is following the Strengthening Coastal Counties’ Resilience 

Program’s model formulized by the National Association of Counties (NACo), the Association of 

State Floodplain Managers (ASFPM), the Coastal States Organization (CSO) and the National 

Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) to support coastal counties as they work to 

strengthen their resilience, and  

 

WHEREAS, Chatham County has determined that the public health, safety, and welfare of 

its residents will be significantly improved by placing a greater emphasis on increasing community 

resilience to natural hazards, environmental changes, issues of social vulnerability, and access to 

resources, and 

 

WHEREAS, Chatham County has acknowledged that there is scientific evidence that our 

climate is changing; and, to meet this challenge, the County must enhance its consideration of, 

climate change in land use decisions, infrastructure investments, housing investments, and County 

planning, all of which should be guided by principles of equity and inclusion, and 

 

WHEREAS, Chatham County recognizes it must continue to build upon its prior work to 

address the changing climate and incorporate equitable community resilience in its decision-making 

through the collaboration of the County’s government departments, local stakeholders, and the 

public, and 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CHATHAM COUNTY 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS to promote equitable community resilience and reduce 

vulnerabilities to environmental threats by incorporating equity and resilience considerations into its 

planning, development, and operational practices. 

 

This ______ day of April, 2024. 

 

________________________________ 

Chester A. Ellis, Chairman 

Chatham County Board of Commissioners 
Attested to: 

__________________________ 

Janice Bocook, Clerk of the Commission  

- Page 70 -Item #10.



- Page 71 -Item #10.



File Attachments for Item:

11. Tracy O'Connell:  2024-07:  Potential Amendment of Ordinance on the Temporary Use of 

Recreational Vehicles – For Discussion and Direction to Staff/Counsel

- Page 72 -



 
4874-1977-9233.1 

ORDINANCE NO. 2024- 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF ORDINANCES 

 OF TYBEE ISLAND, GEORGIA, TO PROVIDE FURTHER 

DEFINITION OF RECREATIONAL VEHICLES THAT MAY BE USED 

ON A TEMPORARY BASIS AS WELL AS THE DEFINITION OF 

DWELLING PURPOSES FOR THE ORDINANCE ON TEMPORARY USE 

OF RECREATIONAL VEHICLES 

 

 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, 

Georgia, (the “City”) is authorized under Article 9, Section 2, Paragraph 3 of the 

Constitution of the State of Georgia to adopt reasonable ordinances to protect and 

improve the public health, safety, and welfare of the citizens of Tybee Island, 

Georgia, and 

 

 WHEREAS, the duly elected governing authority for the City of Tybee Island, 

Georgia, is the Mayor and Council thereof; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the governing authority desires to adopt ordinances under its 

police and home rule powers; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City recognizes citizens or visitors may for a limited time use 

a recreational vehicle; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City seeks to clarify the types recreational vehicles which 

may be used on a temporary basis under the ordinance as well as the purposes for 

which a recreational vehicle may be used; 

 

NOW THEREFORE, it is hereby ordained by the governing authority of the 

City of Tybee Island that the Code of Ordinances will be amended as follows: 

 

SECTION 1 

 

 Section 3-110(c) is revised as follows: 

 

(C) Temporary use of recreational vehicles on private property for dwelling 

purposes. No recreational vehicle  shall be used for dwelling purposes on 

any lot in a residential district unless a temporary permit is acquired. Such 

permit shall be valid for up to seven days and the lot is only eligible for a 

permit three times per calendar year except as set forth below. Only one 

- Page 73 -Item #11.



 

vehicle may be granted a permit for a lot during the duration of the permit. 

The temporary permit may be obtained from the zoning administrator 

during normal hours of operation at the city hall. There is no fee for this 

permit However, violation of this clause will be subject to the same 

enforcement as all other regulations of this Land Development Code.  

 

"Dwelling Purposes" means to "use for living space" and shall include, but not be 

limited to, acts of sleeping, cooking, bathing, occupying as a dwelling, or any stay 

within the recreational vehicle not directly related to its driving. The following 

factors may constitute acts to be considered indicative of "Dwelling Purposes": 

1.    Evidence of a person entering and exiting the vehicle; 

2.    Connection of the vehicle to sewer, water, or electrical systems; 

3.    Use of a power generator; 

4.    Accessory structures about the vehicle; 

5.    Illumination of the interior of the vehicle; 

6.    Window masking; 

7.    Expanded bays "pop-outs." 

 

"Recreational vehicle" or "RV" means a vehicular-type unit up to and including 

400 square feet primarily designed as temporary living quarters for recreational, 

camping, travel or seasonal use that either has its own motive power or is mounted 

on, or towed by, another vehicle.  

 

(D)  For purposes of facilitating the work associated with elevating homes a part of 

the FEMA sponsored Hazard Mitigation Grant, the restrictions contained in 

Section (C) above shall not apply to a homeowner who  needs to reside in a 

recreational vehicle while they are actively engaged in construction under the 

Grant.  This special exemption shall be permitted for a period of no longer than 

one year.  Placement of the recreational vehicle must meet all setback requirements 

and be approved by the City’s Planning and Zoning Department. 

 

SECTION 2 

 

 If any section, clause, sentence or phrase of this ordinance is held to be invalid 

or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, then said holding shall in 

no way effect the validity of the remaining portions of this ordinance.  It is hereby 

declared as the intent of the City of Tybee Island Mayor and Council that this ordinance 

would have been adopted had such invalid or unconstitutional portion not been 

included herein. 

Formatted: Not Highlight

Formatted: Not Highlight

- Page 74 -Item #11.



 

 

SECTION 3 

 

All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are expressly 

repealed.   

 

 

SECTION 4 
 

 It is the intention of the governing body, and it is hereby ordained, that the 

provisions of this ordinance shall become effective and be made a part of the Code 

of Ordinances, City of Tybee Island, Georgia, and the sections of this ordinance may 

be renumbered to accomplish such intention. 

 

SECTION 5 

  

This ordinance shall be effective upon its adoption by the Mayor and Council 

pursuant to The Code of the City of Tybee Island, Georgia. 

  

 This Ordinance shall become effective on _____ day of ______________, 

2024. 

 

ADOPTED THIS       DAY OF                    , 2024. 

 

______________________________ 

MAYOR 

 

 

ATTEST: 

                                                         

CLERK OF COUNCIL 

FIRST READING:   

SECOND READING:    

ENACTED:     

- Page 75 -Item #11.



File Attachments for Item:

14. Minutes, Marine Science Center Board Meeting, March 25, 2024

- Page 76 -



Tybee Island Marine Science Center Board Meeting 
Date: March 25, 2024 
Called to Order: 6:05pm, End: 8:15pm 
 
 
Present: Jim Alexander, Jim Bentley, Kathryn Craven, Nancy Daves, Doug Duch, Dave 
Makel, Harry Moses, Tim Mescon, Carol Pride, Mark Reed, Ruthie Wilson, Katie Wohlust, 
and Executive Director, Chantal Audran. Absent: Karen Robertson 
 
Welcome/Introductions:  President Duch welcome everyone.  
 

Executive Director Update: 
• Review new metric graphs and status of Center 

• Exhibits Update – 
o Solar interpretations: estimated completion is end of April. Exhibit debut 

proposed early May. Invite donors from energy companies around the 
state that made it possible. 

o 5 Sea Turtles of Georgia: Ocean Odyssey Series debut mid May 
o Classroom exhibit: 3D pottery tiles cross section of marsh, estimated 

completion date May (debut with 5 Sea Turtles of GA exhibit) 
o Marine debris tubes: estimated completion in July  
o Marlinspike Seamanship interpretation signage – estimated completion 

in July 
o Gullah Geechee – estimated completion in fall (TBD) 

• Turtle Trot registration update 
o 146 participants to date 
o Idea for next year – pair in house sea turtle release with turtle trot 

• CRM – Bloomerang is live. 

• New Fare Harbor website is live 
o Naturalist nook returns to our website 

• Review proposed 2024 Financial Plan 
o Reviewed metrics – all numbers are up year over year (revenue & 

number of people) 
 

Committee Updates: 
 
Officers: 

• Doug rolled out new/updated committees. 
 
Communications & Marketing Committee:    

• Nancy Daves informed Board about film “Whale Watchers” to be filmed on 
Georgia coast. More info coming. 

 

- Page 77 -Item #14.



Finance & Grants Committee: 

• January financials review 

• Motion to accept 2024 budget: Doug, Second: Ruthie, all in favor 
o Discussed hiring Toren Anderson for marketing and PR  

 
Policy & Procedure Committee: 

• No new news 
 

Infrastructure Committee:  

• Solar grant update – COTI planning commission approved solar addition and now 
goes to city council on April 11. Roofer selected. Discussed grant eligibility. Jim B 
to talk to USDA about grant eligibility. 

• Bathroom update – discussion with COTI about North Beach parking lot public 
bathroom cooperation project. 

• Whale exhibit update – plan to install new, better speakers 

• Dave M – discussed plan to install new network hardware access points via labor 
donation 

 
Exhibits Committee: 

• New Chair: need a volunteer to chair committee 
 
Fundraising, Membership & Donors Committee:  

• New Chair: need a volunteer to chair committee 
 
Strategic Planning Committee:  

• Preview of April Strategic Plan Kickoff – April 13th 10:00am – 1:30pm @ Tim’s 
house 

o All are invited. Tim to send out materials for review prior to meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 

- Page 78 -Item #14.


	Top
	Item #1.	Honorable Mayor Ernest Arthur, Cape Coast Metropolitan Assembly, Ghana
	Item #2.	Minutes, City Council Meeting, April 11, 2024
	20240411Minutes

	Item #3.	Attachments to Minutes
	0039_001

	Item #4.	Shawnessy Cargile, The Front Porch.
	Item #5.	Budget Amendments
	[Untitled]

	Item #9.	Second Reading, 2024-02, GMEBS-R, City of Tybee Island Defined Benefit Retirement Plan
	20240403161032766

	Item #10.	Resolution:  Tybee Island Resilience Resolution
	Proposed Tybee Reslience Resolution 3-10-24 TCO REV (4893-8973-1756.1)
	Chatham Resilience Resolution 021524
	Thunderbolt Resolution 01-2024 - Resilience

	Item #11.	Tracy O'Connell:  2024-07:  Potential Amendment of Ordinance on the Temporary Use of Recreational Vehicles – For Discussion and Direction to Staff/Counsel
	01.30.24 Ordinance Temporary Use of RVs 2024-07 REV 4.18.24 (4881-4154-2839.1)

	Item #13.	Tony Ploughe:  North Beach Erosion due to Ship Traffic
	Item #14.	Minutes, Marine Science Center Board Meeting, March 25, 2024
	03.25.24 Board Meeting Minutes - Final

	Bottom



